IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2018-001488

The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JAN 30 2020
SC Court of Appeals

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Richard Passio, Jr.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
2725 Devine Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29205
(803) 331-3421
elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com

Counsel for Appellant

Other Counsel:
South Carolina Attorney General's Office
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3372

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court judge erred when she denied trial counsel's motion for a directed verdict because the State did not offer substantial circumstantial evidence that Passio was responsible for the death of his wife?

- II. Whether the trial court judge erred when she allowed the State to present a Facebook profile picture allegedly posted by Passio because it was irrelevant and unduly prejudicial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Richard Passio, Jr. was indicted by the Jasper County grand jury for murder. 2016-GS- 27- 00300. He was tried before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen and a jury between July 30 and August 2, 2018 in Ridgeland, South Carolina. He was represented by Christopher Geier. The Fourteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office, who prosecuted the case, was represented by Hunter Swanson. Passio was convicted, and sentenced to 30 years in prison.

This appeal timely follows.

RELEVANT FACTS

Richard Passio Jr. was charged and convicted of the murder of his wife, Michelle, the mother of his eight children, and who also battled depression and significant drug and alcohol abuse. During an argument in their home in the early morning hours of June 3, 2016, and as their youngest child was sleeping just a few feet away, Michelle suffered a fatal gunshot wound to her head.

Richard, Michelle, and other family members owned, managed, and worked at Jasper's Porch, a small restaurant and bar in Ridgeville, South Carolina. In addition to first responders, law enforcement, and a forensic pathologist, a number of witnesses from this Jasper Porch ecosystem testified at trial.

The State offered the following pertinent testimony at trial: Lieutenant Joey Ginn with the Ridgeland Police Department testified that he responded to the Passio's residence at 7915 East Main Street before 6:00am on June 3, 2019. ROA 98. The first thing Ginn noticed when he arrived at the house in Ridgeland was a white male coming down the steps of the residence, waving his arms and trying to get his attention. ROA 99. It was "dimly lit" outside. ROA 100. When Ginn made contact with Passio, he noticed large amounts of blood on him. ROA 100. Richard told him that his wife had shot herself as they were struggling over a weapon. ROA 100. Beginning what would be a series of witnesses offering testimony to suggest that Richard Passio's story of his wife's death was a lie, Ginn said he thought the blood on Richard's pants "appeared dry." ROA 100. Richard also told Ginn that his contacts were out of his eyes, and he could not find his glasses. ROA 100.

As Ginn walked into the house, he noted that it was "completely dark." ROA 101. Ginn had to use his flashlight to see. Ginn noticed a basinet in the room with a young child who was sound asleep. ROA 101-102. A few feet from the baby he found Michelle on the couch. ROA 102. Ginn did not hear any other sounds in the house. ROA 102. Ginn collected the pistol, a .9 millimeter. ROA 103- 105.

EMS subsequently arrived on the scene. Ginn went inside the house with EMS after he placed the gun in his car. Once EMS determined there was no heartbeat and that Michelle was deceased, he went outside and told Richard. At that point, Richard told Ginn that the two of them had fought over the weapon, and that three rounds were fired. A fourth round killed Michelle. ROA 105. Sergeant McIntosh then arrived as an investigator to help process the scene. ROA 106. Ginn testified that roughly 20 people entered the investigation scene, including EMS and family. ROA 111. On cross-examination, Ginn confirmed that he did not tell anyone at the time that he smelled decomposition. ROA 112- 113. Lieutenant Ginn took two pictures at the scene. ROA 123.

Corporal Chris McIntosh also testified for the state. He was an investigator with the Ridgeland Police Department and arrived on the scene around 6:00am. ROA 125. Lieutenant Ginn was already there. McIntosh took photographs of the three bullet strikes he located in the house. ROA 126-27. One bullet strike was located in the doorframe, behind Michelle's head. Another was found in the ceiling of an adjacent room. The third strike was through a windowpane in the adjacent room. ROA 128. McIntosh recovered two shell casings from the scene. ROA 129. McIntosh testified that he smelled an odor that he believed was an early stage of decomposition. ROA 132. He testified that Michelle's body was cold to the touch and that some of the blood in her right ear had coagulated. ROA 133. The exit wound was at the side of her head. ROA 133. McIntosh testified that he did not see any bruising, scratches, or wounds on Richard, other than a wound to his right hand. ROA 133-34.

McIntosh recounted who he interviewed in connection with this incident. He interviewed Pam Bennington, Michelle's mother. He interviewed Shelby Simmons, a friend and co-worker. ROA 136. He interviewed Carla Ashcraft, the mother of Brandon Ashcraft. Carla was a friend of Michelle's. Brandon was also a close personal friend of Michelle's. ROA 137. He spoke to Cathy Badgett, a local attorney, and Angel Rose, an employee at Jasper's Porch Restaurant. ROA 138-39. He also spoke to Marian Mims, the manager on duty at Jasper's Porch. ROA 139. From Ms. Mims, he retrieved a copy of a surveillance tape from Jasper's Porch. ROA 140. McIntosh interviewed Ivy Bryan. ROA 141. On June 6, 2016, McIntosh interviewed Otto Helbig, Linda and Tom Bennington, Jordan Moser, and Richard Passio, Jr. ROA 141. In all, there were about 21 pictures of this death scene. ROA 156.

McIntosh's investigation at the scene was less-than-thorough. For example, McIntosh did not use any evidence markers at the scene. Nor did he generate a crime scene sketch to indicate where evidence was collected. ROA 158. He did not use any trajectory rods to determine where bullets were fired from. ROA 159. McIntosh testified that he did not "recall" telling Richard's father that he was 95% sure that this was a suicide. ROA 159-160. McIntosh did not have some of the blood on the couch tested to determine whether it belonged to Michelle or to Richard. ROA 161-62. He did not test for any gunshot residue on Richard's hands. ROA 163. Michelle's hands were checked for gunshot residue, but they were not bagged at the scene. It was his responsibility to do so. ROA 164. In State's Exhibit #3, one can see Lieutenant Ginn actually standing in a little bit of the blood that was pooled on the

floor. ROA 172. There were footprints in the blood, but McIntosh did not take any pictures of it. ROA 173. McIntosh admitted he did not have any training regarding the amount of time it takes a body to decompose. ROA 174. He also admitted he did not have any training in blood coagulation or blood spatter. ROA 175. Prior to this event, he had experience with only four prior homicides. ROA 175. McIntosh admitted that he did not call SLED to investigate, even though he could have. ROA 176-77. He did not interview any of the children who were present at the scene. ROA 177. Although he recorded some of his interviews, he did not recall if he recorded interviews with Shelby Simmons, Carla Ashcraft, Brandon Ashcraft, or Angel Rose. ROA 185. He also could not remember if he recorded interviews with Ivy Bryan, Otto Helbig, or Jordan Moser. ROA 185-86.

McIntosh did, however, record an interview he conducted with two of Richard and Michelle's neighbors, Devan and Kayla. In the recorded interview, they told him they left the Passio house at a particular time on the night of Michelle's death. McIntosh did not put that information into his written report. He testified his failure to do so was a "typo" or "mistake." ROA 187- 189. Also Devan and Kayla told McIntosh that Michelle was "definitely drunk that night" but he failed to include that in his report either. ROA 190.

McIntosh did not interview Aaron and Latisha Horry, neighbors who lived across the street from Richard and Michelle. ROA 192.

McIntosh admitted that he took notes as he conducted his interviews, but that he destroyed them prior to trial. ROA 195.

In another interview McIntosh conducted, he spoke with Michelle's first child's grandparents (Tom and Linda Bennington). In that interview, Tom and Linda told McIntosh that they believe Michelle's mother is a "pathological liar." ROA 200. That, too, did not make it into McIntosh's written report. They also told McIntosh that "Pam is probably going to blame Richard for this" and McIntosh did not put that in his report either. In yet another interview, this time with one of the children in the house, McIntosh left out a critical fact related by the child and important to Passio's defense—that "it was almost day" when she heard her parents arguing. ROA 203-204.

Ryan Altman, a firefighter and EMT also testified for the state. ROA 210. When he arrived at the scene, Michelle was deceased. He testified that she was cold to the touch. ROA 211. He noticed that the blood on her and on the floor was thick and very pliable. ROA 212. He testified that Richard's hand wound was dry. ROA 212. Altman admitted that he is not a hematologist, biologist, or bloodstain expert. He admitted that he could not, with any degree of certainty, say how long it takes the average person's blood to clot outside of the body. ROA 216.

Michael Singleton, a paramedic and firefighter for Jasper County Fire and Rescue also testified. He testified that he arrived at the scene 8 minutes after he was dispatched. ROA 221. He claimed that by the time he arrived, Michelle was cool and ashen, and that her blood appeared to have coagulated. ROA 221-22. He also testified that he applied a cardiac monitor to her, and that she "showed asystole, which is a — a workable cardiac rhythm." ROA 223, ll. 20-21. They did not attempt to revive her

because, with the head injury, in his opinion her condition was inconsistent with life. ROA 223. Singleton also provided testimony that it was “very uncommon” for women to use firearms to commit suicide, but that claim is demonstrably false.¹

Dr. Erin Presnell is a forensic pathologist from the Medical University of South Carolina. ROA 234. Despite her credentials and being the only witness qualified to opine as to such things, the solicitor did not ask Dr. Presnell about the likelihood of smelling human decomposition when arriving at a scene, or whether blood coagulation is a reliable indicator of when a person dies. Dr. Presnell noted that, in her system, Michelle had some marijuana metabolite, significant nicotine, caffeine, and a blood alcohol level of 0.07. ROA 236.

The state also presented the testimonies of two DNA experts. Andrew Garinger, an expert in DNA analysis, testified that he swabbed two parts of the gun:

¹ Singleton admitted he did not have any authority for this claim other than that was what he was taught during his EMT training, but it is belied by widely published and available scientific studies. *See* MS Kaplan, H McFarland, N Huguet, Characteristics of adult male and female firearm suicide decedents: findings from the National Violent Death Reporting System, Injury Prevention, Volume 15, Issue 5, *available at:* <https://injuryprevention.bmj.com/content/15/5/322> (*last visited* 6/27/19) (Firearms used in 31.2% of female suicides according to data from the restricted National Violent Death Reporting System (2003-06) for 25,491 male and female suicides decedents aged 18 and older). *And see* Violence Policy Center, *Who Dies? A Look at Firearms Death and Injury in America*, Revised Edition, *available at:* <http://www.vpc.org/studies/whofem.htm> (*last visited* 6/27/19) (The National Center for Health Statistics reports that for all female victims of suicide, the percentage using firearms to kill themselves went from 30 percent in 1970 to 40 percent in 1996). *And see* Monaco, Kristen, *Suicide Rate in Women Jumps by 50%*, *Medpage Today*, June 14, 2018), *available at:* <https://www.medpagetoday.com/psychiatry/depression/73485> (*last visited* 6/27/19) (For women aged 25-44 years old, the most common method of suicide is the use of firearms at 32%, as reported by a study conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics based on data collected from 2000 to 2016).

the rear slide of the gun and the trigger. ROA 250-51. On the trigger, he found a mixture of DNA, but was unable to separate it into individual profiles. ROA 251. John Donahue was the second DNA expert who testified. He is trained in a computer program called TrueAllele. Using that program, he was able to determine that the DNA profiles on the gun trigger were from both Richard and Michelle Passio. ROA 257.

The state then called a number of lay witnesses to testify. Ivy Bryan was a senior in high school at the time of trial; she was 16 when these events occurred. ROA 261. She was a neighbor of the Passio's. ROA 262. She and her friends were hanging outside by a fire on the night Michelle died. ROA 263. She heard arguing, a door slam, and then gunshots. ROA 264. She heard a man and a woman, and she testified she thought the sounds were around 2:30 or 3:00am. She thought she heard 4 gunshots in all. ROA 264. The next day she told her father, and then she spoke to Investigator McIntosh. ROA 265. On cross-examination, she admitted that she may have told the Investigator it occurred between 1:00-3:00am. ROA 266.

Juanita Patrum, another neighbor of the Passio's also testified. ROA 268- 70. Earlier that night, she and Michelle hung out on her porch and drank beer. Michelle had made a Low Country broil and wanted Ms. Patrum to taste it. She testified that she and Michelle made plans for the next day to again sit on her porch and drink more beer. ROA 271. Ms. Patrum testified that the next morning she woke up around 4:30 or 5:00am. She took her dog for a walk between 5:30 and 6:00am. She did not hear any gunshots. ROA 271-72. She testified she heard fighting between the

Passio's "all the time." ROA 273. Ms. Patrum testified that sometimes she bought Ramen noodles for the children. She claimed that Richard Passio had a cabinet of food that was just for him, and that the kids and Michelle were not allowed to get into it. ROA 274-75. This testimony was later contradicted by one of Richard and Michelle's children.

Michelle would leave her cigarettes at Ms. Patrum's house. Otherwise, Richard would throw them away. ROA 275. Ms. Patrum claimed the only time she saw Richard walk the dog was after Michelle died. ROA 276. She admitted she did not sit on her porch watching who was letting dogs out at night. ROA 279. She knew Michelle for about 11 months prior to her death. ROA 279.

Jordan Moser, a bartender at Schooner's Bar and Grill, testified. ROA 282. She got to know Richard and Michelle because they would come into the bar after Jasper's Porch closed at night. ROA 282. Michelle showed her a business card for a local divorce lawyer. ROA 283. Michelle was at the bar on the night of June 2, 2016. She and Michelle made plans for Jordan to meet her kids the next day, Friday. They also had lunch plans for that day. ROA 284. That night, Michelle came in around 11:00pm. ROA 284. Michelle was supposed to be home at midnight, but she remained at the bar. Richard called the bar. He showed up shortly afterwards. ROA 286. Richard and Michelle argued, and Moser saw Richard knock a cigarette out of Michelle's hand or mouth. ROA 286. Michelle then left, and Richard left shortly afterwards. ROA 286. They were probably at the bar for about 30 minutes. ROA 287. Jordan smoked marijuana with Michelle a couple of times. ROA 289.

Angel Rose, an employee of Jasper's Porch, testified. ROA 291. Rose was friends with both Richard and Michelle. She recalled one time when Michelle changed clothes at Richard's request when she started waitressing. ROA 293- 294. She saw Michelle briefly at Schooner's at 11:30pm on the night of June 2, 2016. ROA 296. Rose testified that Michelle "had a lot of issues" and that "she was a little sad." ROA 297. She testified that Michelle said she was supposed to be home at midnight. Around 5 minutes until midnight, she ordered another beer. At midnight, Richard called but they did not answer at first. Then, after the second time he called, she "maybe...just clicked it right off." ROA 297. A few minutes later, Richard showed up. She told him she was going to finish her beer, and then she started to light her cigarette. Richard knocked it out of her hand. ROA 299. At one point, Rose suggested that Michelle seek counseling at Coastal Empire Mental Health. ROA 303.

The State then called Brandon Ashcraft to testify. ROA 305. He lived close to Jasper's Porch and had previously been an employee. He stopped working there a week or two prior to these events. ROA 306. He and Michelle had an affair. ROA 307. When it was over, they remained friends. ROA 308. There were rumors about the two of them, and Richard confronted him about it. Ashcraft adamantly denied it to Richard. ROA 308. Ashcraft said he knew there was a gun in a case at the restaurant. ROA 310. On the night Michelle died, Ashcraft was not working. He walked down the street and saw Richard sitting on his porch. They had a margarita or Long Island iced tea together. ROA 311. He had one or two drinks there. There was a kid named Devan at Richard's house, too. ROA 311. Afterward, he walked to Schooner's Bar.

He was there when Richard arrived later. ROA 313. He observed Richard knock the cigarette out of Michelle's hand. ROA 313. Ashcraft stayed at the bar talking to a girl until it closed. Then he went home. Once home, Richard sent him a text message asking if he had a baby bottle. ROA 314. He did, because he had two kids himself, but he testified he thought the request was odd because Richard had 8 kids. ROA 314.

When Richard arrived at Ashcraft's place, he wanted to know why Ashcraft did not come and speak to him earlier when he was at Schooner's bar. Ashcraft told Richard that, ever since those rumors of his affair with Michelle, he wanted to stay "on opposite sides" of Richard. And also, he was interested in talking to a young woman named Tori. After that, Richard's demeanor changed, and he had a seat on Ashcraft's swing. ROA 318. Then Richard said that he hoped "tonight's not the night" and mentioned Michelle killing herself. ROA 318. He took the baby bottle and then headed back to his car. ROA 319. Ashcraft confirmed on cross-examination that Michelle was getting help at a mental health center and was speaking to a therapist. ROA 323. Ashcraft had his affair with Michelle when she was about 6 or 7 months pregnant. ROA 325. He knew she was drinking, smoking marijuana, and smoking cigarettes during her pregnancy. ROA 326.

Marian Mims, a former manager at Jasper's Porch, testified. ROA 330. According to her, sometimes Richard would take Michelle's tip money and put it in the office. ROA 331. Mims showed Investigator McIntosh where the surveillance cameras were located. ROA 331. A video was introduced into evidence that showed

Richard Passio removing a plastic case from Jasper's Porch before 1:00am. Mims testified that sometimes Michelle was depressed. ROA 336.

Lisa Helbig, a shift leader at Jasper's Porch worked with Michelle, was called to testify. ROA 341.² Lisa and Michelle talked to one another in the beginning, but then Michelle stopped talking to her. Helbig testified that Michelle told her that Richard would come home and talk about Lisa and ask her why she could not be more like Lisa. ROA 341. Richard told Lisa he thought Michelle's friends were trash and that he wished Michelle would hang out with Lisa more. ROA 342. Helbig testified that Richard was controlling. ROA 343. Helbig testified that Richard told her they moved from Ohio down to South Carolina so he could get Michelle away from the bad people who were there, and to get her away from the drugs and the kind of lifestyle she was leading there. ROA 344.

Otto Helbig, Lisa's husband, testified. ROA 350. He was hired as a restaurant consultant by Richard Passio, Sr. ROA 351. He and Richard Passio, Jr. spoke after Michelle's death. During that conversation, Richard told Helbig that his hand was injured when it was on the gun as the fatal gunshot was triggered. ROA 353. Richard told Helbig that Michelle shot twice at him, but that she missed and hit the wall. ROA 353. On cross-examination, Helbig admitted that his relationship with Richard

² Mrs. And Mr. Helbig were arrested for abuse of a vulnerable adult around September 2015 for events allegedly occurring in Nebraska. The victim was Ms. Helbig's mother. See <https://www.wowt.com/home/headlines/Husband-and-Wife-Accused-of-Abuse-of-Vulnerable-Adult-328591061.html> (last visited July 11, 2019).

was “rocky.” Helbig had the impression that Richard did not care much for his opinions. ROA 343.

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