**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Jasper County
Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RICHARD PASSIO, JR.,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2018-001488.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
OCT 09 2019
SC Court of Appeals

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Temporally, it can be fairly and logically deduced from the evidence that Appellant and the victim were at home arguing and that the argument culminated with Appellant killing the

victim. *See State v. Logan*, 405 S.C. 83, 97, 747 S.E.2d 444, 451 (2013) (“evaluation of circumstantial evidence requires jurors to find that the proponent of the evidence has connected collateral facts in order to prove the proposition propounded”). The video from Jasper’s Porch places Appellant at the restaurant after the Passio’s public argument at Schooner’s bar. Their argument at the bar began shortly after midnight and witnesses saw Appellant and the victim leave separately. (Tr. p. 282, line 2 – 286, line 8; Tr. p. 296, line 10 – p. 300, line 4; Tr. p. 313, lines 1-25). The bartender testified that she estimated that Appellant and the victim left Schooner’s by 12:30 AM. (Tr. p. 286, line 10 – p. 287, line 2). Appellant made a quick stop at Jasper’s Porch minutes before 1 AM. (State’s Ex. 6; Tr. p. 333, line 11 – p. 334, line 18). A neighbor who had been sitting outside most of the night heard arguing and gunshots between 1 AM and 3:10 AM—she estimated she actually heard the shots between 2:30 and 3:00 AM. (Tr. p. Tr. p. 263, line 5 – p. 264, line 25; Tr. p. 266, lines 3-24). Around 2 AM, Appellant briefly visited a co-worker to pick up a baby bottle. Appellant told his co-worker that things were bad at home. Appellant mentioned suicide, stating that he hoped it was “not the night that something happens” to the victim. He left by 2:15 AM. (Tr. p. 316, line 16 – p. 319, line 14). Appellant called 911 at 5:53 AM to report the shooting. (Tr. p. 221, lines 1-8). However, another neighbor who regularly heard fighting at the Passio’s house and who ordinarily woke up between 4:30 and 5 AM testified she did not hear gunshots at any point after she woke up that morning. (Tr. p. 270, line 19 – p. 273, line 20). Therefore, since it undisputed the Appellant was present at the time of the shooting, the evidence reasonably tends to prove that the shooting occurred after 2:15 AM when Appellant arrived home with a borrowed baby bottle and before the neighbor woke up around 4:30 or 5 AM.

The State also submitted substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant introduced

the murder weapon into the home on the night of the shooting, reasonably indicating malice aforethought. Video surveillance shows Appellant entering Jasper's Porch just before 1 AM on the same night as the murder and leaving moments later with a black case in his left hand. (State's Ex. 6; Tr. p. 333, line 11 – p. 334, line 18). Witnesses who worked at Jasper's Porch also testified that Appellant had previously taken them into the restaurant office and showed them a gun in a black case. The case they described was similar to the black object Appellant can be seen carrying out of the restaurant. (State's Ex. 6; Tr. p. 310, line 12 – p. 311, line 4; Tr. p. 345, lines 1-21; Tr. p. 351, line 3 – p. 352, line 12). Further, one witness who saw Appellant leave Schooner's said he believed Appellant said he was going to Jasper's Porch to retrieve bottles of liquor. (State's Ex. 6; Tr. p. 314, lines 6-11). Yet the black case in the video is not a box or other ordinary receptacle. Finally on this point, when law enforcement arrived at the Passio's at 6 AM in response to Appellant's 911 call, they found the gun on the floor next to the victim and an empty hard-shell case in the back of Appellant's car. Analysis located his DNA on the handle. (Tr. p. 103, lines 13-17; Tr. p. 143, line 6 – p. 144, line 7; Tr. p. 220, line 22 – p. 221, line 5; Tr. p. 254, lines 10-22; Tr. p. 259, lines 11-23).

Moreover, the State presented more than a mere suspicion that Appellant waited to call 911 and report the shooting, indicating consciousness of guilt. *See State v. McDowell*, 266 S.C. 508, 515, 224 S.E.2d 889, 892 (1976) (as a general rule, any guilty act or conduct by the accused is admissible as some evidence of consciousness of guilt). First responders arrived at the Passio's house to find all eight children and the dog quietly asleep. (Tr. p. 102, lines 2-24). The injury to Appellant's hand appeared crusted and dry rather than fresh. (Tr. p. 212, lines 5-20). The victim's blood was not dripping from any wound, but rather had soaked into the sofa and had coagulated on her person and on the floor and was thick like Jell-O. (Tr. p. 133, lines 3-15; Tr. p.

212, lines 1-3). Something about the scene smelled off. (Tr. p. 112, lines 8-19, Tr. p. 133, lines 1-3). The victim's arm was cold to the paramedic's touch. (Tr. p. 211, lines 17-21). And the neighbor who regularly awoke between 4:30 and 5 AM to get ready for her 6 AM work shift did not hear any gunshots that morning, which would have been fairly contemporaneous to Passio's 5:53 AM call to 911. She also saw Appellant in slacks rather than his usual pajamas and was home to see the police arrive. (Tr. p. 221, lines 1-8; Tr. p. 270, line 16 – p. 273, line 15).

Additional evidence reasonably tended to prove malice aforethought. Testimony established a number of possible motives, including the victim's plans to divorce Appellant, the victim's prior infidelity, and Appellant's expression to others that he believed the victim "wasn't acting right; she was lashing out." (Tr. p. 382, line 1 – p. 385, line 24). A number of State's witnesses testified that they had witnessed Appellant act in an argumentative, controlling, or violent fashion with the victim. (Tr. p. 341, line 15 – p. 345, line 21; Tr. p. 396, line 8 – p. 397, line 20). Their dual presence at Jasper's Porch caused tension. (Tr. p. 292, line 22 – p. 294, line 10; Tr. p. 309, line 1 – p. 310, line 1; Tr. p. 330, lines 5-25). Outside of work, by at least one witness account, the victim acted to conceal her whereabouts from Appellant, who was "degrading and abusive" of her. (Tr. p. 354, line 2 – p. 361 line 15). The victim had recently met with a family court attorney who testified that she planned to divorce Appellant. The attorney described the victim as pregnant, concerned, and frightened, and she referred the victim to a local shelter for victims of domestic abuse. (Tr. p. 378, line 4 – p. 380, line 24). The victim's mother corroborated the late wife's plans to leave Appellant once she set aside enough money. (Tr. p. 398, line 12 – p. 399, line 20). The State also presented direct testimony that the victim had an affair with another restaurant employee and that Appellant was at least aware of the rumors, if

not the actual affair, as he confronted that employee about it and thereafter put surveillance cameras around their workplace. (Tr. p. 307, line 1 – p. 309, line 8).

Respondent submits this issue's fact-driven inquiry requires affirmance of the trial court. Unlike other cases where our appellate courts have corrected the trial court's failure to direct a verdict, Appellant places himself at the scene, in a physical struggle with the victim, with his hands on the murder weapon, and witness to the shooting. There was additional evidence that Appellant brought the gun into the home that night and waited some time after the shooting to call 911. *State v. Lynch*, 412 S.C. 156, 173-74, 771 S.E.2d 346, 355-56 (Ct. App. 2015) (case properly submitted to jury on substantial circumstantial evidence where defendant was the last person seen with victim at location of murder and State presented substantial evidence of flight); *State v. Bratschi*, 413 S.C. 97, 112-14, 775 S.E.2d 39, 47-48 (Ct. App. 2015) (substantial circumstantial evidence established by prior violent confrontation between victim and defendant; defendant getting a ride from a location near where the victim's vehicle was found with victim's dated blood on the steering wheel; and by grave-like hole on defendant's family land). In *State v. Frazier*, 386 S.C. 526, 689 S.E.2d 610 (2010), the Court ruled that the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of guilt by with evidence of the following: an affair between the victim's wife and the defendant, defendant's knowledge of victim's whereabouts, defendant's confrontation with the victim shortly before the murder, defendant's actions taken in preparation for the murder, and eyewitness testimony placing defendant near the murder scene at the time of the murder. *Frazier*, 386 S.C. at 531-32, 689 S.E.2d 610, 613. Respondent submits that the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of the same caliber as the evidence presented in *Frazier*, and Respondent asks the Court to likewise find that "[t]his evidence, when viewed collectively, presented a jury question. . ." as to Appellant's guilt. *Id.* at 532, 689 S.E.2d at 613.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR ISSUE II

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 121, 551 S.E.2d 240, 244 (2001). To warrant reversal, an appellant must show not only an alleged error, but also resulting prejudice. *State v. Thompson*, 305 S.C. 496, 502, 409 S.E.2d 420, 424 (Ct. App. 1991). Additionally, “[t]he appellate court ‘will not disturb a trial court’s ruling concerning the scope of cross-examination of a witness to test his or her credibility, or to show possible bias or self-interest in testifying, absent a manifest abuse of discretion.’” *State v. Fuller*, 425 S.C. 468, 476, 822 S.E.2d 910, 914 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *State v. Gracely*, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012)).

II. It was appropriate to admit a screenshot of Appellant’s Facebook profile page through Appellant’s father, who was friends with Appellant on Facebook and could identify the screenshot, because the profile page tended to reveal Appellant’s father’s bias, prejudice, or a motive to misrepresent.

During cross-examination and over Appellant’s objection, the trial court admitted a screenshot of Appellant’s Facebook profile page. The screenshot showed a selfie by Appellant and another photograph of Appellant with two of his sons. Appellant’s name, Rock Passio, appears underneath these photographs, and then the following: “I know who I am. I’m a dude, playing a dude, disguised as another dude.” (Tr. p. 577, lines 16-25; State’s Ex. 32). Appellant objected on the basis of relevance, further stating that the witness, Appellant’s father Richard Passio, Sr., did not authenticate the Facebook page because he only recognized the photographs. (Tr. p. 577, lines 16-20).

Relevant evidence is defined as “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Evidence which assists the jury in

arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent.” *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. 117, 126, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004); *see* Rule 403, SCRE (relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice). “Evidence is admissible if ‘logically relevant’ to establish a material fact or element of the crime; it need not be ‘necessary’ to the State’s case in order to be admitted.” *State v. Sweat*, 362 S.C. at 127, 606 S.E.2d at 513.

Additionally, “[b]ias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced.” Rule 608(c), SCRE. “Our courts have followed the ‘general rule’ that ‘anything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown and considered in determining the credit to be accorded his testimony,’ so that ‘on cross-examination, any fact may be elicited which tends to show interest, bias, or partiality’ of the witness.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 182–83, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018), *reh'g denied* (Mar. 29, 2018) (quoting *State v. Brewington*, 267 S.C. 97, 100–01, 226 S.E.2d 249, 250 (1976) (citing 98 C.J.S. Witnesses §§ 460 and 560a)).

Richard Sr. asserted during direct examination that he was very close with Appellant. (Tr. p. 556, lines 16-17). The screenshot therefore became relevant to the question of how well Richard Sr. actually knew his son. Its admission during the State’s cross-examination of Richard Sr. constituted competent impeachment evidence tending to establish bias, prejudice, or a motive to misrepresent. Rule 608(c), SCRE.

Over the course of his direct examination, Richard Sr. delivered accounts of personal interactions with Appellant which painted the victim in a derogatory light. Richard Sr. testified that the victim regularly and wrongfully accused Appellant of “wild things” that were not

believable and which Appellant denied; that the Passio's marital issues spawned from the victim's unpleasant behavior; and that Richard Sr. himself had an issue with the victim working shifts at Jasper's Porch after giving birth. He attributed these wrongful accusations and unsavory attitudes to the victim's pregnancies and elevated his son as the morally upright individual in the marriage. (Tr. p. 555, line 25 – p. 564, line 7; Tr. p. 569, line 10 – p. 571, line 5). But he also testified that one could not help but like the victim because she was "outgoing, very personable," and had "a magnetism about her." (Tr. p. 564, lines 8-13).

On cross-examination, Richard Sr. again represented that he knew Appellant "as well as any father can know his son." (Tr. p. 573; lines 7-8). The State established Appellant in some ways emulated the life led by Richard Sr. They both had eight home-schooled children. (Tr. p. 572, lines 1-24). However, as cross-examination wore on, the State pointed out facets of Appellant's personal life Richard Sr. either did not know about or did not divulge in his prior testimony. Richard Sr. testified he "would imagine" Appellant did not tell him everything. (Tr. p. 574, lines 13-15). Appellant did not tell Richard Sr. that he posted a craigslist ad less than a month after the victim's death asking, "can we have two true loves in our lifetime?" (Tr. p. 574, lines 5-12). Richard Sr. was not aware that Appellant began texting another female after the victim's death and misrepresented to her that he was a law enforcement officer specializing in bank robberies. (Tr. p. 575, line 9 – p. 576, line 2). Then the State presented State's Exhibit 32. (Tr. p. 576, lines 1-25).

The Rules of Evidence provided the State with leeway to probe Richard Sr. for truthfulness, bias, or a motive to misrepresent the facts and circumstances of Appellant's relationship with his wife. Rule 608(c), SCRE. The text on the profile page, which Richard Sr.

could identify as belonging to his son,¹ casts doubt upon the veracity of Richard Sr.'s self-professed closeness with Appellant. The exhibit bore relevance to Richard Sr.'s credibility, including whether he had reliable knowledge about what went inside his son's home. Rule 608(c), SCRE; *Smalls v. State, supra*; see also *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 25, 558 S.E.2d 518, 523 (2002) (noting 608(c) preserves well-established South Carolina precedent). For these same reasons, the screenshot's probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE.

Assuming error *arguendo*, our courts "decline to set aside a conviction due to insubstantial errors not affecting the result." *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012). "In determining harmless error regarding any issue of witness credibility," relevant factors include, but are not limited to, "the importance of the witness's testimony to the prosecution's case, whether the witness's testimony was cumulative, whether other evidence corroborates or contradicts the witness's testimony, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and the overall strength of the State's case." *State v. Fossick*, 333 S.C. 66, 70, 508 S.E.2d 32, 34 (1998); *State v. Holmes*, 320 S.C. 259, 265, 464 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1995) (adopting *Delware v. VanArsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1438 (1986) factors for any error concerning witness credibility). "No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the

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